IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

No. 18-1280

---

JOSHUA VENCKUS,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

CITY OF IOWA CITY; ANDREW RICH; JOHNSON COUNTY, IOWA; ANNE  
LAHEY; NAEDA ELLIOTT; and DANA CHRISTIANSEN,

Defendants-Appellants.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR JOHNSON COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE CHAD KEPROS, JUDGE

---

FINAL BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS  
CITY OF IOWA CITY AND ANDREW RICH

---

Eric Goers  
Susan Dulek  
Assistant City Attorneys  
410 East Washington Street  
Iowa City, IA 52240  
(319) 356-5030  
icattorney@iowa-city.org  
ATTORNEYS FOR CITY OF IOWA CITY AND ANDREW RICH

##

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW

- I. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO DISMISS VENCKUS’S MALICIOUS PROSECUTION CLAIM BECAUSE THERE IS NO DISPUTE THAT THE CHARGE AGAINST HIM WAS SUPPORTED BY PROBABLE CAUSE, AND THERE IS NO CAUSE OF ACTION RECOGNIZED IN IOWA AGAINST LAW ENFORCEMENT FOR A “CONTINUED” PROSECUTION.

Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532 (Iowa 2002)

Comes v. Microsoft Corp., 646 N.W.2d 440 (Iowa 2002)

§801.4(13), Code of Iowa

§801.4(12), Code of Iowa

Rule 233.(1), Iowa Rules of Criminal Procedure

Restatement (Second) of Torts §655

Limone v. United States, 579 F.3d 79 (1<sup>st</sup> Cir. 2009)

Pierce v. Gilchrist, 359 F.3d 1279 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2004)

Mitchell v. City of Boston, 130 F. Supp.2d 201 (D. Mass. 2001)

42 U.S.C. §1983

Walsh v. Eberlein, 560 P.2d 1249 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1977)

Heib v. Lehrkamp, 704 N.W.2d 875 (S.D. 2005)

- II. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO DISMISS VENCKUS’S *GODFREY* CLAIMS AND TORT CLAIMS AGAINST THE CITY DEFENDANTS AS BARRED BY ABSOLUTE IMMUNITY BECAUSE RICH, A POLICE INVESTIGATOR, IS ENTITLED TO ABSOLUTE IMMUNITY AGAINST CLAIMS MADE AGAINST HIM THAT ATTACK HIS ROLE AS A WITNESS FOR THE PROSECUTION.

Godfrey v. State of Iowa, 898 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 2017)

Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532 (Iowa 2002)

Baldwin v. City of Estherville, 915 N.W.2d 259 (Iowa 2018)

Minor v. State, 819 N.W.2d 383 (Iowa 2012)

Beck v. Phillips, 685 N.W.2d 637 (Iowa 2004)

Rehberg v. Paulk, 566 U.S. 356 (2012)

Briscoe v. Lahue, 460 U.S. 325 (1983)

Imbler v. Pachtman, 424 U.S. 409 (1976)

Spencer v. Spencer, 479 N.W.2d 293 (Iowa 1991)

Robinson v. Home Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 242 Iowa 1120, 49 N.W.2d 521 (1951)

Restatement (Second) of Torts §§586-588 (1977)

W. Prosser & W. Keeton, *Prosser & Keeton on Torts* §114, §115 (5<sup>th</sup> ed. 1984)

Beeck v. Kapalis, 302 N.W.2d 90 (Iowa 1981)

McFarland v. McFarland, No. C08-4047-MWB, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 106941 (N.D. Iowa Sep. 20, 2011)

Bivens v. Six Unknown Federal Narcotics Agents, 403 U.S. 388 (1971)

Myers v. Bull, 599 F.2d 863 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1979)

Moore v. McDonald, 30 F.3d 616 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994)

Strength v. Hubert, 854 F.2d 421 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1988)

Daloia v. Rose, 849 F.2d 74 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir.)

Williams v. Hepting, 844 F.2d 138 (3<sup>rd</sup> Cir.)

Holt v. Castaneda, 832 F.2d 123 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1987)

Macko v. Byron, 760 F.2d 94 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1985)

San Filippo v. U.S. Trust Co., 737 F.2d 246 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1984)

Briggs v. Goodwin, 712 F.2d 1444 (D.C. Cir. 1983)

Curtis v. Bembenek, 48 F.3d 281 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995)

Bates v. Hadden, No. 3:12-CV-00123-CFB (S.D. Iowa Sept. 5, 2013)

Mitchell v. Ploudre, No. 5:14-CV-05176, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 93317 (W.D. Ark. July 17, 2015)

Butz v. Economou, 438 U.S. 478 (1978)

Silberg v. Anderson, 50 Cal.3d 205 (1990)

McNall v. Frus, 336 Ill. App.3d 904 (3<sup>rd</sup> Dist. Ct. App. 2002)

Marrogi v. Howard, 805 So.2d 1118 (La. 2002)

Offen v. Brenner, 402 Md. 191, 935 A.2d 719 (2007)

Kobrin v. Gastfriend, 443 Mass. 327 (2005)

Couch v. Schultz, 193 Mich. App. 292 (1992)

Franklin Collection Serv. V. Kyle, 955 So.2d 284 (Miss. 2007)

Montana Bank, N.A. v. Ralph Meyers & Son, 236 Mont. 236 (1989)

Loigman v. Twp. Comm., 185 N.J. 566 (2006)

De Lourdes Torres v. Jones, 26 N.Y.3d 742 (2016 Ct. of App.)

Jones v. Coward, 193 N.C. App. 231 (2008)

Bird v. W.C.W., 868 S.W.2d 767 (Tex. 1994)

Dowd v. New Richmond, 137 Wis.2d 539 (1987)

Mohoney & Hagberg v. Newgard, 729 N.W.2d 302 (Minn. 2007)

Fullerton v. Florida Med. Ass'n, Inc., 938 So.2d 587 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2006)

Smith v. Hodges, 199 S.W.3d 185 (Ky. Ct. App. 2005)

State ex. rel. Oklahoma Bar Ass'n v. Dobbs, 2004 OK 46, 94 P.3d 31 (Okla. 2004)

Wright v. Truman Road Enters., Inc., 443 S.W.2d 13 (Mo. Ct. App. 1969)

III. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO DISMISS VENCKUS'S COMMON LAW TORT CLAIMS AND *GODFREY* CLAIMS AGAINST THE CITY DEFENDANTS AS TIME-BARRED UNDER THE IOWA MUNICIPAL TORT CLAIMS ACT.

Godfrey v. State of Iowa, 898 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 2017)

§670.5, Code of Iowa

Bivens v. Six Unknown Federal Narcotics Agents, 403 U.S. 388 (1971)

Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532 (Iowa 2002)

Chapter 670, Code of Iowa

§670.2, Code of Iowa

§670.2(1), Code of Iowa

Rucker v. Humboldt Cmty. Sch. Dist., 737 N.W.2d 292 (Iowa 2007)

§670.1(2), Code of Iowa

§670.2(2), Code of Iowa

City of Cedar Falls v. Cedar Falls Cmty. Sch. Dist., 617 N.W.2d 11 (Iowa 2000)

Rivera v. Woodward Res. Ctr., 830 N.W.2d 724 (Iowa 2013)

Chapter 669, Code of Iowa

Doe v. New London Cmty. Sch. Dist., 848 N.W.2d 347 (Iowa 2014)

§801.4(13), Code of Iowa

§801.4(12), Code of Iowa

Kiner v. Reliance Ins. Co., 463 N.W.2d 9 (Iowa 1990)

§614.1, Code of Iowa

Fuller v. Local Union No. 106, 567 N.W.2d 419 (Iowa 1997)

Penn v. Iowa State Bd. of Regents, 577 N.W.2d 393 (Iowa 1998)

J. A. Brock, Annotation, *When Statute of Limitations Begins to Run Against Action for Abuse of Process*, 1 A.L.R.3d 953 (1965 & Supp. 1997)

Dobratz v. Krier, 2011 Iowa App. LEXIS 1416 (Iowa Ct. App.)

Buszka v. Iowa City Cmty. Sch. Dist., \*11 2017 Iowa App. LEXIS 124

Johnson Cty. v. O'Connor, 231 Iowa 1333, 4 N.W.2d 419 (Iowa 1942)

Perkins v. Dall. Ctr.- Grimes Cmty. Sch. Dist., 727 N.W.2d 377 (Iowa 2007)

S.O. v. Carlisle Sch. Dist., No. 07-2096, 2009 Iowa App. LEXIS 167

Vander Linden v. Crews, 231 N.W.2d 904 (Iowa 1975)

Sanchez v. United States, 49 F.3d 1329 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995)

Clark v. Figge, 181 N.W.2d 211 (Iowa 1970)

Sandbulte v. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co., 343 N.W.2d 457 (Iowa 1984)

Wilson v. Garcia, 471 U.S. 261 (1985)

§670.1, Code of Iowa

§670.12, Code of Iowa

Baldwin v. City of Estherville, 915 N.W.2d 259 (Iowa 2018)

Acuna v. Regents of University of California, 56 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 639 (1997)

Staley v. Lingerfelt, 134 N.C. App. 294 (1999)

Schoof v. Nesbit, 316 P.3d 831, 373 Mont. 226 (2014)

Hannaway v. Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co., 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 24775 (W.D. Tx. 2011)

Ross v. Prince George's Cty., Civil Action No. DKC 11-1984, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 82078 (D. Md. June 13, 2012)

Ransom v. Leopold, 183 Md. App. 570, 962 A.2d 1025 (2008)

White v. Prince George's Cnty., 163 Md. App. 129, 877 A.2d 1129 (2005)

**IV. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO DISMISS VENCKUS'S *GODFREY* CLAIMS AS UNAVAILABLE BECAUSE THERE IS AN ADEQUATE REMEDY ALREADY PROVIDED BY THE IOWA MUNICIPAL TORT CLAIMS ACT, INCLUDING PUNITIVE DAMAGES.**

Godfrey v. State of Iowa, 898 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 2017)

Baldwin v. City of Estherville, 915 N.W.2d 259 (Iowa 2018)

Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532 (Iowa 2002)

Chapter 670, Code of Iowa

§670.2(1), Code of Iowa

§670.1(4), Code of Iowa

§670.12, Code of Iowa

Carlson v. Green, 446 U.S. 14 (1980)

Bivens v. Six Unknown Federal Narcotics Agents, 403 U.S. 388 (1971)

Article I, §1 and §8, Iowa Constitution



## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because it involves issues of first impression concerning the availability of absolute immunity for police witnesses in direct Iowa constitutional tort claims; the statute of limitations applicable to direct Iowa constitutional tort claims against municipal employees and cities; whether the Iowa Municipal Tort Claims Act (“IMTCA”) provides adequate statutory remedies that make Iowa direct constitutional claims unnecessary; and the existence of a cause of action for “continued prosecution” which is not currently recognized in Iowa law. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is a case about a police officer who Plaintiff agrees had probable cause to charge him with rape because his DNA was on the victim’s cervix. Plaintiff nonetheless alleges the officer should be liable for damages after the jury acquitted him. Why? Not because he withheld exculpatory evidence or lied, but because of how the case was prosecuted, a process over which he had no authority.

Plaintiff-Appellee Joshua Venckus filed a civil rights action against the City of Iowa City and Iowa City Police Investigator Andrew Rich (collectively “City Defendants”), Johnson County, and Johnson County Prosecutors Anne Lahey, Naeda Elliott, and Dana Christiansen (collectively “County Defendants”). (App. p. 34). Venckus makes novel municipal tort and direct Iowa constitutional tort claims

for police and prosecutorial civil liability. His claims are based on the Johnson County Attorney's Office criminal prosecution of him that resulted in a jury's acquittal from the charge of Second Degree Sexual Abuse. (App. p. 34). His municipal tort claims against the City Defendants are for defamation, abuse of process, and malicious prosecution. (App. p. 41). His Iowa constitutional claims are made pursuant to *Godfrey v. State of Iowa*, 898 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 2017), and generally allege violation of the following:

the right to freedom of movement and association as guaranteed by Article I, §1 of the Iowa Constitution; his right to liberty guaranteed by Article I, §1 of the Iowa Constitution; his right to due process, a fair trial, and equal protection guaranteed by Article I, §6 and §9 of the Iowa Constitution; and his right against unreasonable seizure guaranteed him by Article I, §8 of the Iowa Constitution.

(App. p. 41).

The City Defendants filed a pre-answer motion to dismiss all Venckus's claims. (App. p. 14). They argued his claims—both the IMTCA and *Godfrey* claims—were time-barred under Iowa Code §670.5 (2017); unavailable due to the doctrines of absolute privilege and immunity for police witnesses and prosecutorial immunity; failed as a matter of law under *Godfrey* because adequate remedies for Venckus's claims are found in the IMTCA; and because no cause of action exists in Iowa against a police officer for a malicious prosecution claim based on a “continued prosecution” where it is undisputed that the officer had probable cause to initiate the criminal charge.

Initially, the district court largely agreed with the City Defendants. (App. p. 65). It dismissed Venckus’s defamation and abuse of process claims against the City Defendants as time-barred under Iowa Code §670.5. (App. pp. 67, 69). It dismissed his malicious prosecution claim to the extent it was based upon allegations occurring after Rich charged and arrested Venckus. (App. p. 70). It dismissed his Iowa constitutional claims entirely as “preempted by the IMTCA.” (App. p. 74).

Thirty-four days later, in response to Venckus’s Motion to Reconsider, the district court took the self-described “somewhat unusual step of fully reversing its previous decision . . . .” (App. p. 108). The district court reinstated all Venckus’s claims against the City Defendants and against the County Defendants. *Id.*

The district court’s self-reversal came shortly after the Iowa Supreme Court’s decision in *Baldwin v. City of Estherville*, 915 N.W.2d 259 (Iowa 2018). Venckus argued *Baldwin* was “directly applicable” because it allegedly (1) established that Investigator Rich is only entitled to qualified immunity, (2) “rejected the notion that Iowa Constitutional claims are unnecessary because of the existence of the IMTCA or ITCA<sup>1</sup>”; and (3) “the analysis in *Baldwin* would reject the use of the IMTCA as the applicable statute of limitations.” (App. p. 87).

The City Defendants argued that because this case does not concern qualified immunity at this stage, *Baldwin* had little impact on the issues in this case, other than

---

<sup>1</sup>Iowa Tort Claims Act

reaffirming the importance of Iowa’s common law in formulating the legal doctrines applicable to *Godfrey* claims, and acknowledging the importance of Iowa’s tort claims acts, Iowa Code Chapters 669 and 670. (App. p. 94). The district court, though, determined “the better and more appropriate course under all the circumstances is to allow all claims to proceed for the time being.” (App. p. 108). It cited to the portion of *Baldwin* setting forth the governmental immunities provided by the IMTCA and the ITCA and that part of the *Godfrey* opinion that allows direct constitutional claims in certain circumstances. (App. p. 108).

The City Defendants and County Defendants filed Applications for Appeal in Advance of Final Judgment and Request for Stay. (App. p. 110). The Iowa Supreme Court granted the City and County Defendants’ applications for interlocutory appeal. (App. p. 207).

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Since this appeal arises from the City Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, all well pleaded facts in Venckus’s petition must be taken as true. *Young v. HealthPort Techs., Inc.*, 877 N.W.2d 124, 132 (Iowa 2016).

On February 16, 2013, a woman was assaulted and raped following a “Cowboys and Indians” theme party at Venckus’s house in Iowa City. (App. pp. 35-36). The victim was extremely intoxicated and incapacitated by alcohol. (App. p. 35). She escaped Venckus’s house after the assault and rape by running out the back

door. (App. p. 36). She ran directly to a stranger who was in the alley behind Venckus's house for help. (App. p. 36). DNA evidence was collected from her body. (App. p. 36).

Investigator Andrew Rich of the Iowa City Police Department was principally responsible for the investigation of this crime. (App. p. 37). The Iowa City police immediately identified one suspect, Ryan Markley, because officers found his wallet outside the house. (App. p. 36). Later, though, DNA testing from the victim's body returned the DNA profiles of *two* male suspects—Markley, and a second, unknown male. (App. p. 36). Investigator Rich began searching for a second perpetrator and sought out DNA samples from twenty males in attempt to find the unknown DNA contributor. (App. p. 37).

Venckus claimed he was in his hometown of Chicago when the rape and assault happened, from 02/15/2013 - 02/17/2013. (App. p. 35). Venckus's DNA matched the second, unknown DNA profile in the victim's body. (App. p. 36). Venckus's sperm was found in the victim's vagina, on her cervix. (App. p. 37). With this DNA evidence in hand, Investigator Rich arrested Venckus on January 24, 2014 for Sexual Abuse in the Second Degree in violation of Iowa Code §709.3. (App. p. 37).

“[A]fter Plaintiff's arrest, Plaintiff was prosecuted for the crime of Sexual Abuse in the Second Degree . . . .” (App. p. 38). “The prosecution was conducted

by the Johnson County Attorney’s Office . . . .” (App. p. 38). Venckus presented an alibi defense, claiming he was in Chicago when the rape happened. (App. p. 39). Venckus’s defense attorney provided the prosecution with Venckus’s expert witness reports. (App. pp. 39-40). Venckus’s expert witness opined that Venckus’s sperm on the victim’s cervix could be explained because it must have transferred from a blanket covering the victim that was “replete with Plaintiff’s DNA.” (App. pp. 35). The prosecution did not dismiss the charge based on Venckus’s alibi claim or his expert’s testimony. Instead, the prosecution presented its own evidence and relied on its own witnesses and took the case to trial. (App. p. 40).

A Johnson County jury acquitted Venckus in September 2016. (App. p. 40).

Additional facts will be mentioned as necessary.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO DISMISS VENCKUS’S MALICIOUS PROSECUTION CLAIM BECAUSE THERE IS NO DISPUTE THAT THE CHARGE AGAINST HIM WAS SUPPORTED BY PROBABLE CAUSE, AND THERE IS NO CAUSE OF ACTION RECOGNIZED IN IOWA AGAINST LAW ENFORCEMENT FOR A “CONTINUED” PROSECUTION.**

Venckus made clear in his resistance to the City Defendants’ motion to dismiss that his malicious prosecution claim against the City Defendants is not premised upon Investigator Rich’s *initiation* of a prosecution against him by filing a criminal charge. Rather, Venckus styles his malicious prosecution claim as a “continued prosecution” claim based upon “the failure of all defendants to refuse to

dismiss the criminal allegations against him when faced with overwhelming evidence of his innocence.” (App. p. 44). For this reason, he contends it does not matter whether Rich had probable cause to charge him because it was “the decision to proceed with trial” that is the basis of his malicious prosecution claim. (App. p. 79).

There is no form of the tort of malicious prosecution recognized in Iowa against law enforcement for “the decision to proceed with trial.” To allow such allegations to move forward conflates the roles of law enforcement and prosecutors, creating a back-door claim for malicious prosecution against law enforcement officers based upon a prosecutor’s decision to take a case to trial—a decision for which prosecutors have absolute immunity and officers have no control. There is no reason such a tort should be allowed against law enforcement officers when it is not allowed against prosecutors—the policy reasons underlying this State’s rejection of such apply with equal force.

#### **A. The City Defendants Preserved Error.**

The City Defendants initially moved to dismiss Venckus’s malicious prosecution claim based on the statute of limitations. This argument relied on the legal predicate that Venckus’s malicious prosecution claim was founded upon *the initiation of the prosecution, not its continuation*. In response to this argument, Venckus alleged his “complaint relates to the failure of all defendants to refuse to

dismiss the criminal allegations against him” and “it was not the arrest that was the injury; it was the continued effort to convict an innocent man . . . .” (App. p. 44). He argued it was Rich and the City’s failure to dismiss the charges *after* the arrest—stating “the arrest may have been reasonable.” The City replied that since Venckus failed to plead that probable cause was lacking for his arrest, “Venckus cannot establish one of the foundational elements to his malicious prosecution claim . . . .” (App. p. 64).

Clearly the issue was raised and decided when the district court originally held: “Plaintiff may only proceed against the City and Rich on the basis of actions that led up to the finding of probable cause for arrest, but may not claim against him for actions taken in the course of the prosecution itself.” (App. p. 70).

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