#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

#### No. 18-1280

#### **JOSHUA VENCKUS**

Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

## CITY OF IOWA CITY, ANDREW RICH, JOHNSON COUNTY, ANNE LAHEY, NAEDA ELLIOTT and DANA CHRISTIANSEN

**Defendants-Appellants.** 

### APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR JOHNSON COUNTY HONORABLE CHAD KEPROS, JUDGE

## APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF

Martin Diaz AT0002000 1570 Shady Ct. NW Swisher, IA 52338 (319) 339-4350 (319) 339-4426 Fax marty@martindiazlawfirm.com

M. Victoria Cole AT0001678 2310 Johnson Avenue, NW Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52405 Telephone: 319.261-2600 Facsimile: 319.826-1281 Victoria@attyvictoriacole.com

**Attorneys for Appellee** 

###

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Even though the Court in *Baldwin* discussed state tort claims acts in evaluating immunities, the actual defendants there were municipal officials. Therefore, when the court rejected the use of tort claims act it implicitly rejected the use of the IMTCA.

established under either the ITCA or IMTCA for *Godfrey* constitutional torts. If this Court were to use the IMTCA or ITCA to preempt constitutional tort claims, the legislature could create further roadblocks.

Justice Appel, in his dissent in *Baldwin*, commented on the problems created by allowing tort claims acts to limit claims. He stated:

The Acts, however, have sweeping exceptions.

The Iowa Tort Claims Act broadly exempts the state from liability for claims "arising out of assault, battery, false imprisonment, false arrest, malicious prosecution, abuse of process, libel, slander, misrepresentation, deceit, or interference with contract rights." Further, the state is exempt from liability for any claims brought by an inmate. These provisions, if enforced with respect to constitutional claims, would dramatically undermine the scope of available remedies in a wide variety of actions.

The Municipal Tort Claims Act also provides for liability of local government, subject to enumerated exceptions. The exceptions are different than under the Iowa Tort Claims Act. ... Further, claims for punitive damages are not allowed. Depending on interpretation, application of these Code provisions to situations where government officials cause grievous harm could dramatically reduce any possible recovery.

These statutory provisions are not of much value in determining whether there is qualified immunity for officers who commit constitutional torts. The very purpose of the Bill of Rights is to restrain the majoritarian branches of government. These provisions are distinctly antimajoritarian. It would be a fox-in-the-henhouse problem to permit the legislature to define the scope of protection available to citizens for violation of constitutional rights. As noted by Professor Amar, "When governments act ultra vires and transgress the boundaries of their charter, . . . their sovereign power to immunize themselves is strictly limited by the remedial imperative."

Baldwin at 292, (Appel, J. dissent) (citations omitted)

The City seeks to distinguish *Baldwin* by claiming that it did not concern adequacy of remedies. This is incorrect. What good are remedies if you are precluded by immunity from asserting a claim?

Venckus contends that the Iowa Bill of Rights can only be truly protected if the legislature is kept away from selecting winners and losers or placing the governmental thumb on the scales of justice. In order to have a true constitutional tort that emanates from the Iowa Bill of Rights, the Court must reject preemption. It is antithetical to the self-executing pronouncement in *Godfrey*. If the IMTCA or the ITCA can preempt constitutional tort claims, then there are no constitutional tort claims. The City's preemption defense must be rejected.

Venckus requests this Court affirm the District Court on this issue.

#### APPEAL ARGUMENT ON THE COUNTY'S APPEAL

## I. PROSECUTORS ARE ONLY ENTITLED TO *BALDWIN* QUALIFIED IMMUNITY

**Preservation of Error:** The County has preserved error for review on this issue.

**Standard of Review.** Venckus agrees with the County that the standard of review is for errors at law.

#### Merits.

The prosecutor has more control over life, liberty, and reputation than any other person in America. ... While the prosecutor at his best is one of the most beneficent forces in our society, when he acts from malice or other base motives, he is one of the worst.

\*\*\*

A sensitiveness to fair play and sportsmanship is perhaps the best protection against the abuse of power, and the citizen's safety lies in the prosecutor who tempers zeal with human kindness, who seeks truth and not victims, who serves the law and not factional purposes, and who approaches his task with humility.

Robert H. Jackson, *The Federal Prosecutor*, 24 J. Am. Jud. Society 18, 20 (1940).<sup>5</sup>

In its brief, the County seeks absolute immunity for prosecutors contending it is necessary "to maintain the integrity of the judicial process." (County Brief, p. 8). But what integrity exists when the prosecutor acts negligently, recklessly or maliciously, focused only on "winning", abusing the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> At the time of this article, U.S. Supreme Court Justice Jackson was the Attorney General of the United States.

power entrusted to her? Is prosecutorial indifference to the harm caused by such conduct part of the integrity described by the County? Does that engender confidence in the judicial process? For too long, courts have countenanced such wrongful behavior by convincing themselves that shielding prosecutors from civil accountability is a key component to protecting the "integrity" of the judicial system.<sup>6</sup> This case provides the Court with an opportunity to test the legitimacy of that theory; to balance the prosecutorial independence needed with accountability when a prosecutor fails to seek truth and creates victims.

## A. Justice Scalia Analysis of Prosecutorial Immunity.

Justice Scalia's dissent in *Burns v. Reed*, 500 U.S. 478 (1991) outlines the common-law immunities that existed before 1871. According to him, absolute immunity applied to "judicial immunity" or "defamation immunity" and not to "quasi-judicial immunity". As to the latter, he stated:

I do not doubt that prosecutorial functions, had they existed in their modern form in 1871, would have been considered quasi-judicial. But that characterization does *not* support absolute immunity.

constant dread of retaliation.").

52

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> *Van de Kamp v. Goldstein*, 129 S. Ct. 855, 860 (2009) (holding that prosecutors have absolute immunity for actions associated with the judicial phase of trial, stating it is better "to leave unredressed the wrongs done by a dishonest officer(s) than to subject those who try to do their duty to [the]

*Burns* at 496. (citing *Wight* v. *Rindskopf*, 43 Wis. 344, 354 (1877) (prosecutor acts as a quasi-judicial officer in deciding whether to dismiss a pending case)).

Venckus' allegations relate to the failure to investigate wholly exculpatory evidence. This conduct is investigatory in nature and to Justice Scalia would merit qualified immunity only. Venckus argues for a similar though slightly different approach---"all due care" qualified immunity for all prosecutorial actions, regardless of function.

## B. Wrongful Prosecutions and Convictions Exist in Ever Growing Numbers.

In a study entitled "Estimating the Prevalence of Wrongful Convictions", funded by the National Institute of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice, issued in 2017, the authors conclude the following:

This study extends prior research on the prevalence of wrongful convictions. In particular, we rely on case processing and disposition data collected on 714 murder and sexual assault felony cases across 56 circuit courts to calculate an estimated rate of wrongful conviction. Based on forensic, case processing, and disposition data, we estimate, after weighting, that wrongful convictions in cases with a sexual assault component occurred at a rate of **11.6 percent**, which is different than prior estimates reported by the Urban Institute in 2012, due to both a more refined scope and additional context from case files.

www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/251115.pdf (emphasis in original)

Wrongful convictions and exonerations have become so commonplace that there is a National Registry of Exonerations<sup>7</sup> maintained by two law schools and a University Center for Science and Society, and a Center on Wrongful Convictions at Northwestern University School of Law.<sup>8</sup> There is also the well-known Innocence Project.<sup>9</sup> According to the National Registry, there are a reported 2300 exonerations to date and counting. Each story of exoneration is heartbreaking ---the years and families lost to a failed process.

Iowa is not immune to wrongful convictions. *McGhee v. Pottawattamie County*, 547 F.3d 922, 933 (8th Cir. 2008), dismissed, 130 S. Ct. 1047 (2010) (concluding that "immunity does not extend to the actions of a County Attorney who violates a person's substantive due process rights by obtaining, manufacturing, coercing and fabricating evidence before filing formal charges, because this is not 'a distinctly prosecutorial function'").

This has led to scholarly articles about prosecutorial misconduct as a feature of wrongful prosecutions and convictions. A few examples are Catherine Ferguson-Gilbert, *It Is Not Whether You Win or Lose, It Is How You Play the Game: Is the Win-Loss Scorekeeping Mentality Doing Justice for* 

<sup>7</sup> www.law.umich.edu/special/exoneration/Pages/about.aspx;

54

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> www.law.northwestern.edu/legalclinic/wrongfulconvictions

<sup>9</sup> www.innocenceproject.org

Prosecutors?, 38 CAL. W. L. REV. 283, 304 (2001); Ellen Yaroshefsky, Wrongful Convictions: It Is Time to Take Prosecution Discipline Seriously, 8 UDC L. REV. 275, 282 (2004); Margaret Z. Johns, Reconsidering Absolute Prosecutorial Immunity, 2005 BYU L. REV. 53, 57 (2005); Angela J. Davis, The Legal Profession's Failure to Discipline Unethical Prosecutors, 36 HOFSTRA L. REV. 275, 281 (2007); and Randall Grometstein, Prosecutorial Misconduct and Noble-Cause Corruption, 43 CRIM. L. BULL., No. 1, ART I (2007)

## C. The Prosecutor's Role in Undermining the Integrity of the Judicial Process

The County tosses the word "integrity" around as though it is an undeniable truth that prosecutors are the heroes in this story. But, if innocent people are being convicted at the rate of 11%, made to spend many years in prison, and potentially put to death, there is something very wrong with the "integrity" of the judicial process. There is also little doubt that the solution to the problem is multi-factorial. Venckus contends that one of those factors is the lack of accountability for prosecutors. Professor Davis points out the severity of the problem of prosecutorial misconduct:

Prosecutorial misconduct encompasses a wide range of behaviors, including courtroom misconduct (such as making inflammatory comments in the presence of the jury, mischaracterizing evidence, or making improper closing arguments), mishandling physical evidence (destroying evidence or case files), threatening witnesses, bringing a

vindictive or selective prosecution, and withholding exculpatory evidence. Although there is no dispute that prosecutorial misconduct exists, there is considerable disagreement about whether it is a widespread problem in the criminal justice system. Some suggest that the phenomenon is an aberration, but there is considerable evidence to suggest that misconduct is a pervasive problem.

\*\*\*

In 2003, the Center for Public Integrity, a nonpartisan organization that conducts investigative research on public policy issues, conducted one of the most comprehensive studies of prosecutorial misconduct. A team of researchers and writers studied the problem for three years and examined 11,452 cases in which appellate court judges reviewed charges of prosecutorial misconduct. In the majority of cases, the alleged misconduct was ruled harmless error or not addressed by the appellate judges. The Center discovered that judges found prosecutorial misconduct in over 2000 cases in which they dismissed charges, reversed convictions, or reduced sentences. In hundreds of additional cases, judges believed that the prosecutorial behavior was inappropriate, but affirmed the convictions under the "harmless error" doctrine.

The Legal Profession's Failure to Discipline Unethical Prosecutors, 36 HOFSTRA L. REV. at 277-78

The study essentially found that in 17% of cases there was such misconduct that reversals and dismissals were warranted, and in many others here was misconduct deemed "harmless error." In short, there is a 1 in 5 chance that a criminal defendant will experience prosecutorial misconduct. If this is the "integrity" trumpeted by the County, then there is a significant disconnect.

Despite this level of misconduct, the legal profession is slow to intervene. "The Supreme Court has recommended that prosecutors be referred

to the relevant disciplinary authorities when they engage in misconduct. However, for reasons that remain unclear, referrals of prosecutors rarely occur. Even when referrals occur, state bar authorities seldom hold prosecutors accountable for misconduct. The Office of Professional Responsibility of the U.S. Justice Department, the counterpart for federal prosecutors, has a similar weak record." *Id* at 277.<sup>10</sup>

#### D. Prosecutors and Judges: A False Equivalency

The County, in citing to *Blanton v. Barrick*, 258 N.W.2d 306, 308 (Iowa 1977) argues that Judges and prosecutors are "generally cloaked with the same immunity." This is the biggest problem with the argument in favor of absolute immunity. The suggestion that Judges and prosecutors are equivalent because they are part of the "judicial process" is patently false. Judges are expected to be neutral; prosecutors are expected to be advocates. They have wholly different roles. They may all work for the same system, but they are not on the same team. Football teams and referees may be on the same field, but they are not on the same side. Judges, as arbiters of disputes, should be shielded with some type of absolute immunity, absent egregious conduct. But prosecutors cannot be provided with absolute immunity. Their job is to

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> A call to the Iowa Office of Professional Regulation disclosed that there is currently no mechanism available to research complaints made or discipline of prosecuting attorneys.

zealously advocate for their perception of the evidence. Catherine Ferguson-Gilbert painted an unflattering picture of a prosecutor as follows:

My job is to play a game. I have a rule book to guide me but its terms are vague. Scholars debate what the terms mean but are unable to come to a resolution. Thus, I define the terms myself in the same manner as other players who are in different positions on different teams. At the very least, the terms mean that I must win because no one would pay me to lose. I have played the game before and am undefeated, with an impressive record of 50-0. With such an impressive record, I can advance to more intense games - especially if my fans realize what a winner I am. I have enormous power behind me to help me win. I can choose or dismiss my opponents, buy the help of others, and use my virtually unchecked power against my opponents. Even if I do not play the game well, and I lie, cheat, and dishonor the game itself - I will face no consequences. When I play the game unfairly, and even hurt innocent people in the process, others will label my actions as "harmless." There is no recourse for my misconduct in my attempt to win the game. I thus continue my pursuit of wins, but I am supposed to be "just." I have a blindfold on, but if I take it off I can see the procedure I need to follow to be "just." Who am I? I am ... a prosecutor.

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